1997

# Larry H. Miller Leasing Group v. Karl E. Jorgenson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

### III. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This appeal is from an Order Granting Summary Judgment entered by Judge L.A. Dever of the Third Judicial District Court, Division II, State of Utah, on August 13, 1997. A copy of the Order is attached at Addendum A. Jurisdiction is proper pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3) (1953 as amended).

### IV. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the trial court err by granting summary judgment after the parties had filed conflicting affidavits as to the commercial reasonableness of selling a repossessed vehicle at an auto auction limited exclusively to wholesale dealers without any attempt to sell the vehicle at a higher retail price? **(Issue Preserved at R. 45-47).**

This is a question of law which should be reviewed for correctness. Higgins v. Salt Lake County, 85 P.2d 231 (Utah 1993). No deference should be afforded to the trial court's conclusion that the facts were not in dispute nor the court's legal conclusion based on those facts. Kitchen v. Cal Gas Co., 821 P.2d 458 (Utah App. 1991) (internal citations omitted). This Court should view the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in a light most favorable to the non-moving party, who is the appellant in this case. Id.

2. Did the appellant produce evidence enough to create a genuine issue of material fact as to whether the sale of a repossessed vehicle at an auto auction limited exclusively to wholesale buyers without any attempt to sell the vehicle as a merchant at a higher retail price was commercially reasonable? **(Issue Preserved at R. 43-45).**

Because this matter was decided on summary judgment, the applicable standard of review is a correctness standard. Higgins v. Salt Lake County, 85 P.2d 231 (Utah 1993). No deference should be afforded to the trial court's conclusion that the facts were not in dispute nor the court's legal conclusion based on those facts. Kitchen v. Cal Gas Co., 821 P.2d 458 (Utah App. 1991) (internal citations omitted). This Court should view the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in a light most favorable to the non-moving party, who is the appellant. Id.

#### **V. DETERMINATIVE AUTHORITIES**

Appellant submits that the following authorities are controlling and entitle him to judgment as a matter of law:

##### **STATUTES:**

Section 70A-9-504, Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended);  
See Addendum B for the full provision of the statute.

Section 70A-9-507, Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended);  
See Addendum B for the full provision of the statute.

##### **RULES:**

Rule 56, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure  
See Addendum B for the full provision of the rule.

## VI. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### NATURE OF THE CASE AND COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW

This appeal very simply involves the lower court's decision to accept on summary judgment, despite the fact that there were conflicting affidavits on point, that the sale of a repossessed vehicle at a dealers-only auto auction with no other attempt to sell the vehicle for a higher retail value is commercially reasonable within the meaning of the Motor Vehicles Act.

The case involved appellee Larry H. Miller Leasing Company's ("Miller") repossession of appellant Karl E. Jorgenson's ("Jorgenson") vehicle, a 1994 Plymouth Voyager van. After taking possession of the van, Miller made no attempt to sell the vehicle on its lot or by any retail means. R. 44. Instead, Miller sold the vehicle at an auto auction closed to the general public where it could only be expected to get a wholesale price. R. 45. Since the vehicle sold for below the value of Jorgenson's loan, Miller brought this action on January 21, 1997 seeking a deficiency on the loan value in the sum of \$6,160.17. R. 45.

Miller filed a motion for summary judgment on March 11, 1997 supported solely by an affidavit from a manager of its collection department stating that the auto auction was a commercially reasonable means of selling the vehicle. R. 9-17. On April 28, 1997 Jorgenson objected to the motion for summary judgment and



filed a counter affidavit by a used car dealer of sixteen years. R. 41-42. The affidavit was evidence that the usual course of business in the sale of a repossess vehicle was to first try to obtain a retail value by selling the vehicle on the sales lot, and that an automobile dealer would only resort to the auto auction in extreme situations since the value obtained for the vehicle would be at or below wholesale. R. 41-42.

Despite these counter affidavits, the trial court granted Miller's motion for summary judgment on August 13, 1997 and awarded Miller the deficiency plus interest, attorney's fees and court costs, in the sum of \$8,484.72. R. 68-69.

On September 3, 1997 Jorgenson filed a Notice of Appeal in the Third District Court, Division II, to appeal the question of commercial reasonableness and the granting of summary judgment to the Utah Supreme Court. R. 77. The supreme court poured-over the appeal to this honorable Court of Appeals on October 29, 1997.

### **III. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

On April 26, 1994 defendant/appellant Jorgenson entered into an agreement with Miller to lease a 1994 Plymouth Voyager van, VIN 1P4GH44R6RX251581 by signing the lease form provided by Miller which gives Miller all the rights provided a secured creditor under the Utah Commercial Code in the event of a default. R. 19-20.

Miller repossessed the vehicle on November 6, 1996. R. 22. However, Miller made no effort to sell the vehicle publicly at any of its retail locations or to obtain any retail sale or value for the vehicle. R. 44-45. Instead, Miller simply sent the vehicle to the Utah Auto Auction to be sold. R. 44-45.

The Utah Auto Auction is only open to dealers of vehicles who pay wholesale or less for the vehicles and thus the appellant's vehicle could not have been sold for its retail value. R. 41. Nor could appellant have attended the sale and bid on the vehicle himself. R. 45.

Jorgenson was informed on December 10, 1997 that Miller had sold the vehicle for \$11,550.00 and that Miller owed the deficiency balance of \$6,160.17. R. 23.

Miller brought this action in Third District Court Division II on January 21, 1997 to recover from Jorgenson the sum of the deficiency plus interest, costs and attorney's fees. R. 1-3.

Upon filing a motion for summary judgment March 11, 1997, Miller offered the affidavit of Michael E. Stewart, a collection manager for Miller. R. 9-17. Stewart stated, among other things, that the sale of the vehicle through the Utah Auto Auction was "a commonly used method of dispossession of used vehicles and [was] widely accepted in the industry as an effective, commercially reasonable and good faith means of disposing of repossessed vehicles." R. 13.

Jorgenson objected to Stewart's affidavit as not being admissible since Stewart was not an automobile dealer and was not qualified to testify as to commercial reasonableness by a merchant or dealer of automobiles. R. 45. Instead, Jorgenson filed in opposition to the motion an affidavit by Gary Giffin, a used car dealer of 16 years. R. 41-42. Giffin stated in his affidavit, contrary to Stewart,

the customary practice of used automobile dealers in the Salt Lake area and elsewhere [is] to hold the vehicle on a used vehicle lot, expose the same to advertising from the street or by newspaper for a period of time, usually 60 to 90 days. If the vehicle does not sell within that period of time, then the dealer will wholesale the vehicle at the Salt Lake Auto Auction or a wholesale dealer.

R. 42.

The affidavits contradicted one another as to the commercial reasonableness of selling the vehicle at the auction without any exposure to the public. R. 45-46. Despite the two conflicting affidavits, the court below signed the Order Granting Summary Judgment against Jorgenson on August 13, 1997. R. 68.

Jorgenson filed a notice appealing the summary judgment order on September 12, 1997. R. 77.

### IX. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

For the following reasons, the Trial Court was incorrect in granting the State's Motion for Summary Judgment:

1. Summary judgment cannot be granted where opposing parties have submitted conflicting affidavits on a question of fact.

2. Appellant objected that appellee's affidavit was made by one who lacked qualification to make such statements and determinations. However, appellee never objected to appellant's affidavit by used car dealer Gary Giffin, thus the Court should consider the appellant's affidavit admissible for purposes of summary judgment.

3. Since there were conflicting affidavits which raised specific evidentiary facts, there was a genuine issue of material fact and appellee was not entitled to judgment as matter of law.

4. Appellant raised the affirmative defense that appellee had sold the vehicle by commercially unreasonable means contrary to the requirements § 70A-9-504(3), U.C.A., and therefore was not entitled to the deficiency of the loan on the vehicle, which appellee never disproved.

5. The only evidence presented to the trial court as to the commercial reasonableness of the sale of the repossessed vehicle were the conflicting affidavits which alone should have precluded summary judgment.

## X. ARGUMENT

### I. THE COURT SHOULD REVERSE THE ORDER GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE THE PARTIES HAD SUBMITTED CONFLICTING AFFIDAVITS THEREBY CREATING AN ISSUE OF FACT.

The trial court's order granting summary judgment was improper as appellant had filed an affidavit of sufficient facts without objection in opposition to appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment and supporting affidavit. Conflicting affidavits create a question of fact which must preclude summary judgment. Amica Mutual Insurance Company v. Schettler, 768 P.2d 950 (Utah App. 1989).

Appellee, in support of its Motion for Summary Judgment, offered an affidavit by an employee, Miller's collection manager, Michael E. Stewart. R. 9. Stewart stated in his affidavit that the automobile auction is "a commonly used method of disposition of repossessed vehicles and is widely accepted in the industry as an effective, commercially reasonable and good faith means of disposing of repossessed vehicles." R. 14.

Appellant objected to this affidavit in his Memorandum in Opposition to Summary Judgment as Stewart was not an auto dealer and therefore was not qualified to speak with personal knowledge as to the usual course of business of auto dealers. R. 46.

Instead, appellant offered the affidavit of Gary Giffin who had been a used car dealer for sixteen years as evidence of the usual course of business of an auto dealer to sell in a commercially reasonable manner. R. 41. Affiant Giffin's sworn

testimony was that it was not customary for auto dealers in Utah to sell a repossessed vehicle at an auto auction without first trying to sell the vehicle on their lot for a higher retail price. R. 42.

Thus, the two affidavits created a direct conflict over the commercial reasonableness of selling a repossessed car at an auto auction. This Court has held previously

If, upon review of the record, it appears there is a dispute as to a material factual issue, we are compelled to reverse the trial court's determination and remand for further proceedings on that issue. *One sworn statement under oath is all that is necessary to preclude the entry of summary judgment.*

Amica Mutual Insurance Company v. Schettler, 768 P.2d 950 (Utah App. 1989).

Rule 56 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure allows an order of summary judgment where "[t]he pleadings, . . . together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Thus, the trial court must consider all the pleadings and affidavits of all parties and then find that the material facts as presented create no genuine dispute so that the movant is legally entitled to relief.

Affidavits which raise specific evidentiary facts create genuine issues which preclude an order of summary judgment. Treloggan v. Treloggan, 699 P.2d 747 (Utah 1985). All it takes, then, is "one sworn statement" of sufficient factual evidence to defeat a motion for summary judgment. Amica Mutual at 957.

In this case, the affidavit offered by appellant set forth sufficient evidence of customary practice of merchants of motor vehicles for selling vehicles, and the commercial unreasonableness of relying exclusively on the Utah Auto Auction. R. 41-42. Miller never moved to stike appellant's affidavit nor did they object to the same in any way.

With an affidavit in support of summary judgment by appellee to which appellant objected as being made without the appropriate knowledge and authority, and an affidavit in opposition to summary judgment offered without objection, the trial court's order granting summary judgment was improper and should be reversed.

II. THE SALE OF A REPOSSESSED VEHICLE BY MEANS WHICH  
DO NOT ATTEMPT TO GAIN THE  
HIGHEST RESALE VALUE IS COMMERCIALY UNREASONABLE.

Selling a used vehicle at a dealers-only auction with no attempt to sell it from a used car lot, expose it to the public or otherwise obtain the highest selling price is not "commercially reasonable" under Utah Code Annotated § 70A-9-504. Appellant made this argument below, but the appellee never proved that selling appellant's repossessed vehicle through the Utah Auto Auction was a commercially reasonable public or private sale. Therefore, appellant should not have been liable for the deficiency which resulted from Miller's unreasonable sale.

Utah law requires that a repossessed vehicle be disposed of by the secured party in a commercially reasonable private or public sale. U.C.A. § 70A-9-504. The statute requires that "every aspect of the disposition including the method, manner, time, place and terms must be commercially reasonable."

Section 70A-9-507(2) further provides that

If the secured party either sells the collateral in the usual manner in any recognized market therefore or if he sells at the price current in such market at the time of his sale or if he has otherwise sold in conformity with reasonable commercial practices among dealers in the type of property sold he has sold in a commercially reasonable manner.

The Utah Supreme Court has defined a commercially reasonable public sale as "a sale in which the public, upon proper notice, is invited to participate and given full opportunity to bid upon a competitive basis for the property placed on sale, which is sold to the highest bidder." Pioneer Dodge Center, Inc. v. Glaubenskle, 649 P.2d 28, 30 (Utah 1982) (internal quotations omitted). The purpose of the 'commercially reasonable' requirement is "to get the best price obtainable for the truck." Maas v. Allred, 577 P.2d 127, 128 (Utah 1978). To that end, "The requirement of a public invitation is essential for a public sale under the Uniform Commercial Code." Pioneer Dodge Center, Inc., at 30, quoting In re Webb, 17 UCC Rep. 627, 630 (S.D.Ohio 1975). Finally, if the sale "was not conducted in a commercially reasonable manner, plaintiff is barred from obtaining a deficiency judgment." Pioneer Dodge



Center, Inc. v. Glaubenskle at 31, citing FMA Financial Corp. v Pro-Printers, 590 P.2d 803 (Utah 1979).

In Pioneer Dodge, *infra*, the plaintiff who repossessed appellant's truck, placed the vehicle for sale on its own used car sales lot, took it to several other car dealers who made bids on the vehicle, and announced to prospective buyers in its dealership that the vehicle would be sold for auction at the dealership. The Utah Supreme Court found that such actions on the part of appellee still did not rise to a level of commercial reasonableness. "These efforts do not give reasonable notice to that part of the public which would likely be interested in the sale." Id. at 31.