1997

# Larry H. Miller Leasing Group v. Karl E. Jorgenson : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

LHM's disposition of the Vehicle through which it established a deficiency was commercially reasonable under the standards of Utah Code Ann. §70A-9-504 and was, based upon the record in this case, properly found to be so as a matter of law by the District Court.

Jorgenson constructs a straw man by arguing that LHM conducted a *public* disposition of the Vehicle and then proceeds to knock the straw man down by pointing out that LHM did not conduct a *public* sale of the Vehicle in accordance with Utah decisional law prescribing the required steps for public sale of collateral. Jorgenson's entire argument can and should be disregarded by this Court because the Utah Uniform Commercial Code permits *either a public or a private* disposition of collateral and applicable decisional law prescribes differing requirements for a *private* sale to be considered "commercially reasonable" as a prerequisite to the right to deficiency. The sale of a motor vehicle through a dealers-only auction is a "private" sale under the Utah Uniform Commercial Code rendering Jorgenson's public sale analysis entirely inapplicable.

As Jorgenson's affiant, Gary Giffen, conceded, the Utah Auto Auction is a "recognized market" for wholesale disposition of motor vehicles; Utah decisional law generally recognizes wholesale auctions as "recognized markets" for sale of repossessed collateral. Consequently, disposition through the auto auction is deemed commercially reasonable under Utah Code Ann. §70A-9-507(2).

Jorgenson's fixation on the notion that the only commercially reasonable sale of a motor vehicle is one that results in obtainment of the *retail* instead of the wholesale value of the

vehicle is misplaced. Both Utah decisional law and the Utah Uniform Commercial Code provide no requirement or prohibition that the dealer must sell the vehicle at wholesale or retail, but only that the secured party obtains the best possible price under the circumstances.

Jorgenson's argument that the Giffen Affidavit injected genuine issues of material fact for trial into this record, thus rendering the District Court's entry of summary judgment inappropriate, is unavailing. Whether a fact is "material" is evaluated with reference to the substantive law. Because the only points raised by the Giffen Affidavit are that *retail* sales are the only commercially reasonable sales of motor vehicles and that wholesale auctions are presumably commercially unreasonable are overtaken by substantive law contradicting those points as a matter of law.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY CONCLUDED THAT LHM'S DISPOSITION OF THE VEHICLE WAS COMMERCIALY REASONABLE AS A MATTER OF LAW AND THAT LHM WAS ENTITLED TO A JUDGMENT OF DEFICIENCY AGAINST JORGENSEN.**

The essence of Jorgenson's opposition to LHM's Motion for Summary Judgment, both in the District Court and in this appeal, is the misplaced notion that a requisite commercially reasonable sale of a repossessed motor vehicle must be conducted under a *public* sale format, through means that ensure obtainment of a *retail* price, and that dealers-only auto auctions are presumptively commercially unreasonable markets for disposing of motor vehicles. These arguments are contrary to and overtaken by substantive law holding precisely to the contrary.

A. **LHM Conducted a Permissible *Private* Disposition of The Vehicle That Renders Jorgenson's Public Sale Analysis Inapplicable.**

Jorgensen constructs a straw man by arguing that LHM conducted a *public* sale of the Vehicle and proceeds to knock the straw man down by arguing that LHM's sale did not comply with Utah law concerning public disposition of repossessed collateral. However, his public sale discussion is irrelevant.

With respect to a secured party's right to dispose of collateral after default, the Utah Uniform Commercial Code concisely provides that "[d]isposition of the collateral may be by *public or private* proceedings. . . ." Utah Code Ann. §70A-9-504(3) (emphasis added). In the case of a "private" sale, the statute requires only that the secured party provide "reasonable notification of the time after which any private sale or other intended disposition is to be made. . . ." *Id.* The secured party need not provide even this degree of notice if the "collateral. . . is of a type customarily sold on a recognized market. . . ." *Id.*<sup>1</sup>

The analysis of whether a "public" or "private" disposition was made is abundantly simple: Where the general public was not informed of the date of the sale of a vehicle, and is not invited to attend and bid at the sale, the vehicle is necessarily disposed of in a "private" sale. Chrysler-Dodge Country v. Curley, 782 P.2d 536, 540 (Utah App. 1989) ("The 'public' was not informed of the date of the sale and was not invited to attend and bid at the sale.

---

<sup>1</sup> As argued under subsection (b) of this point below, an automobile auction is a "recognized market" for disposition of motor vehicles, which clothes sales of repossessed vehicles through such an auction with a presumption of commercial reasonableness.

Thus, we conclude the truck was sold at a private sale”).<sup>2</sup> Because Jorgensen’s entire argument is premised on the irrelevant public sale analysis supported only by cases defining the requisites of a *public* sale, Jorgensen fails to argue, let alone even mention, whether a legally sufficient *private* sale was conducted, leaving LHM’s assertion of a properly conducted *private* sale untraversed.<sup>3</sup>

Courts outside of Utah that have considered the issue have held that a dealers-only automobile auction, when employed to dispose of repossessed vehicles, is a “private” sale under §9-504 of the Uniform Commercial Code. Daniel v. Ford Motor Credit Co., 612 So.2d 483 (Ala. App. 1992); and McMillian v. Bank South, N.A., 188 Ga. App. 355 (1988).

**B. LHM Disposed of the Vehicle in a Commercially Reasonable Manner in a Private Sale Through a “Recognized Market” for Motor Vehicles.**

LHM’s disposition of the Vehicle was commercially reasonable as a matter of law

---

<sup>2</sup> Indeed, Jorgensen’s first clue that a private rather than a public sale under Utah Code Ann. §70A-9-504(2) was being pursued by LHM was LHM’s written notice to Jorgensen after repossession titled “Intent to Make Private Sale,” R. at 44, notifying Jorgensen of the time after which a disposition of the Vehicle would occur. As Jorgensen aptly observes, the public was not going to be notified of the sale and invited to bid.

<sup>3</sup> It is for this reason that Jorgensen’s nearly exclusive reliance on Pioneer Dodge Center, Inc. v. Glaubenslee, 649 P.2d 28 (Utah 1982) is misplaced. See, Brief of Appellant at 13-15. This Court, in Chrysler-Dodge Country v. Curley, 782 P.2d at 539-40, cited to Glaubenslee for the definition of a *public* sale, which it contrasted with its finding that the dealer in Curley had conducted a *private* sale of the motor vehicle. Jorgensen’s citation to Glaubenslee is used to support the argument that Glaubenslee sets out the steps that must be taken to conduct any disposition in a commercially reasonable manner under the Utah Uniform Commercial Code. To the contrary, Glaubenslee simply defines the requisites of a commercially reasonable public sale *should the dealer choose a public sale instead of a private sale.*



because it was made by “private” sale through a “recognized market” for motor vehicles.<sup>4</sup>

This Court has recognized that the “Utah Uniform Commercial Code does not provide a statutory definition of commercial reasonableness.” Chrysler-Dodge Country v. Curley, 782 P.2d 536, 539 (Utah App. 1989). However, this Court also noted that “Utah Code Ann. §70A-9-507(2) delineates several non-exclusive (footnote omitted) circumstances which are *deemed to be commercially reasonable. . .*” Id. (emphasis added). That provision of the Utah Uniform Commercial Code provides, in relevant part, as follows:

The fact that a better price could have been obtained by a sale at a different time or in a different method from that selected by the secured party is not of itself sufficient to establish that the sale was not made in a commercially reasonable manner. *If the secured party. . . sells the collateral in the usual manner in any recognized market therefore. . . he has sold in a commercially reasonable manner.*

Utah Code Ann. §70A-9-507(2) (emphasis added).

“The recognized market exception was included in [U.C.C. §9-507(2)] because of the presumption that collateral sold on such a market would be guaranteed to bring a fair price even though no notice of the sale was given to the debtor (citation omitted). A recognized market is one in which neutral market forces determine the price, as opposed to competitive bidding, and for prices paid in actual sales of comparable property are currently available by quotation.” Cottam v. Heppner, 777 P.2d 468, 473 (Utah 1989). Auctions can be “recognized markets” for certain types of collateral: Indeed, Cottam holds that a livestock auction can be a “recognized market” for livestock if the appropriate circumstances are present, and concluded

---

<sup>4</sup> For this reason, LHM exceeded the requirements for conducting a commercially reasonable disposition of the Vehicle by providing to Jorgensen its Notice of Intent to Make Private Sale.

that under the facts of that case, the circumstances *were* present where a deficiency was claimed following sale of a cattle herd. Cottam, 777 P.2d at 473.<sup>5</sup> The “appropriate circumstances” referred to in Cottam include: whether the auctions had available information about prices for the particular items in all the major markets; whether the auction procedures were well advertised; and whether there was an appropriate degree of competitive bidding at the auction. Id. Jorgensen questions disposition through the Utah Auto Auction only on the basis that it attracts just automobile dealers, and that the auctions generally result in the realization of wholesale rather than retail prices. Consequently, Jorgensen fails to argue that the Utah Auto Auction does not and did not bear the requisite “appropriate circumstances” to function as a “recognized market” for motor vehicles. In fact, the Giffen Affidavit admits that the Utah Auto Auction is a “recognized market” for wholesale dispositions of motor vehicles. R. at 42.

Arguments concerning the appropriateness of dealers-only automobile auctions as commercially reasonable channels for disposition of repossessed vehicles identical to those advanced by Jorgensen here were made to and rejected by the Supreme Court of Mississippi in Ford Motor Credit Co. v. Mathis, 660 So. 2d 1273 (Miss. 1995). In Mathis, Ford Motor Credit repossessed the borrower’s car and resold it through the Mississippi Automobile Auction. A deficiency was realized, and Ford Motor Credit sued to collect. The Mississippi court, based upon the Mississippi version of U.C.C. §9-507(2), recognized that “the testimony has indicated that the wholesale dealer auction is the usual manner of sale of repossessed automobiles, and that it is in conformity with the reasonable commercial practices among dealers in repossessed

---

<sup>5</sup> Cottam v. Heppner also handily disposes of Jorgensen’s misplaced notion that wholesale auctions are presumptively commercially unreasonable.

automobiles. . . .” Id. at 1276. Consequently, the court held that “we cannot hold that the sale was commercially unreasonable.” Id.

Two other courts have held that the sale of repossessed vehicles through a dealers-only automobile auction is commercially reasonable if such sales are in conformity with the standard practice and procedure of the *lender*. McMillian v. Bank South N.A., 188 Ga. App. 355; Daniel v. Ford Motor Credit Co., 612 So.2d 483, 485 (Ala. App. 1992). The Affidavit of Michael E. Stewart, the collection manager of LHM, established, without objection, that at least LHM normally used the Utah Auto Auction; no evidence was presented, nor can an argument be made, that LHM did anything different or peculiar with respect to the Jorgensen repossession. Moreover, the Lease itself provides for *wholesale* disposition as a matter of contract. R. at 17.

The sale of the Vehicle through the Utah Auto Auction was commercially reasonable as a matter of law.

**C. The Vehicle Need Not Have Been Exposed to the Retail Market or Sold at a Retail Price for the Disposition to be Deemed Commercially Reasonable.**

Jorgensen’s most prominent, and most unavailing, argument is that LHM was obligated, in order to conduct a commercially reasonable sale, to “attempt to sell the vehicle at a higher *retail price*. . . .” Appellant’s Brief at 3 (emphasis added). Indeed, Jorgensen defines the core issue in this appeal as being whether “the sale of a repossessed vehicle at a dealers-only auto auction with no other attempt to sell the vehicle for a *higher retail value* is commercially reasonable within the meaning of the Motor Vehicles Act [sic].” Appellant’s Brief at 5 (emphasis

added)<sup>6</sup> The essence of the Giffen Affidavit is that there are steps LHM could have taken to expose the Vehicle to and sell it within the “retail” market.<sup>7</sup>

Utah law concerning commercial reasonableness in the disposition of repossessed motor vehicles is precisely and clearly to the opposite of the position taken by Jorgensen:

It is the duty of the secured party to obtain the best possible price for the benefit of the debtor. However, the secured party does not have to use extraordinary means (citation omitted). ***There is no requirement or prohibition that the dealer must sell at wholesale or retail but only that the secured party obtains the best possible price under the circumstances.***

Chrysler-Dodge Country v. Curley, 782 P.2d 536, 541-42 (Utah App. 1989) (emphasis added)..

Moreover, “[p]ublic advertising is not mandatory. . . .” Id. at 542. Jorgensen’s core “retail exposure” argument simply lacks any basis or support in Utah decisional law, and is spun from whole cloth in derogation of clear Utah authority to the contrary. Thus, the District Court properly found that the wholesale disposition was commercially reasonable as a matter of law.

**II. JORGENSEN’S PLEADINGS IN OPPOSITION TO LHM’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT FAIL TO RAISE GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT SUFFICIENT TO PRECLUDE AWARD OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT.**

Jorgensen posits that “[t]he trial court’s Order Granting Summary Judgment was improper as [Jorgensen] had filed an affidavit of sufficient facts without objection in opposition

---

<sup>6</sup> Jorgensen’s reference here to the “Motor Vehicles Act” appears to be an inadvertent error in lieu of citation to Utah Uniform Commercial Code §70A-9-504.

<sup>7</sup> It is on this basis that Jorgensen premises his second argument that the Giffen Affidavit raised genuine issues of material fact for trial such that the District Court should not have granted judgment to LHM as a matter of law. As demonstrated under Point II below, the fact that this assertion is overtaken by substantive law renders the facts stated in the Giffen Affidavit immaterial for summary judgment purposes.

to [LHM's] Motion for Summary Judgment and supporting Affidavit. Conflicting affidavits create a question of fact which must preclude summary judgment," Appellant's Brief at 10, citing, Amica Mutual Ins. Co. v. Schettler, 768 P.2d 950 (Utah App. 1989). Thus, he concludes, "one sworn statement under oath is all that is necessary to preclude the entry of summary judgment." Appellant Brief at 11, citing Schettler at 950.

When determining whether a grant of summary judgment in favor of a party is proper, the question the court must answer is whether "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c).

In examining a motion for summary judgment, the court views the facts in the case in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motion. Matsushita Electric Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 587 (1986); Schalk v. Gallemore, 906 F.2d 491, 494 (10th Cir. 1990).<sup>8</sup> However, "the mere existence of some alleged factual dispute between the parties will not defeat an otherwise properly supported motion for summary judgment; the requirement is that there be no genuine issue of material fact." Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 247-48 (1986) (emphasis added).

Jorgensen fails to recognize that in determining what facts are material, the court must look to the *substantive law*. Anderson, 477 U.S. at 248. Thus, "[o]nly disputes over facts

---

<sup>8</sup> Courts of this state may accord considerable weight to decisions that interpret federal procedural rules identical or substantially similar to the procedural rules of this state. Prowswood v. Mountain Fuel Supply, 676 P.2d 952, 958 (Utah 1984).

that might affect the outcome of the suit under the *governing law* will properly preclude the entry of summary judgment. Factual disputes that are irrelevant or unnecessary will not be counted.” Id. (emphasis added). The substantive law applicable to this dispute renders Mr. Giffens’ statements, even to the extent they create factual disputes, immaterial. His statements that the Utah Auto Auction is open only to dealers and does not result in exposure of the Vehicle to the general public through which retail prices could be obtained is overtaken by the substantive law that the dealer is not obligated to sell at either retail or wholesale, and that auto auctions are “recognized markets” for disposition of motor vehicles that clothe such sales with a presumption of commercial reasonableness. Chrysler-Dodge Country, Inc. v. Curley, 782 P.2d 536 (Utah App. 1989); Cottam v. Heppner, 777 P.2d 468 (Utah 1989); Ford Motor Credit Co. v. Mathis, 660 So.2d 1273, 1276-77 (Miss. 1995).

Consequently, the District Court properly concluded that there were no genuine issues of material fact remaining for trial, notwithstanding the Giffen Affidavit, and that judgment in favor of LHM as a matter of law should enter.